IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

MIKE HERNANDEZ, et al.,

Plaintiffs and Respondents,

v.

FRANCESCA MULLER,

Plaintiff and Appellant;

RESTORATION HARDWARE, INC.,

Respondent.

FILED

SEP 19 2016

Frank A. IVICGuire Clerk

Deputy

After a Decision of the Court of Appeal, Fourth Appellate District, Div. 1, No. D067091; San Diego Superior Court, Central Div., No. 37-2008-00094395-CU-BT-CTL Hon. William S. Dato, Judge

APPELLANT FRANCESCA MULLER'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

LAWRENCE W. SCHONBRUN (CSB No. 054519) LAW OFFICE OF LAWRENCE W. SCHONBRUN 86 Eucalyptus Road Berkeley, CA 94705 Telephone: (510) 547-8070 Attorney for Plaintiff Class Member-Appellant Francesca Muller

ISSUE PRESENTED

This case presents the following issue: Must an unnamed class member intervene in the litigation in order to have standing to appeal? (See *Eggert v. Pac. States S. & L. Co.* (1942) 20 Cal.2d 199.)

California Supreme Court, <u>www.courts.ca.gov/supremecourt.htm</u>, Case Search Information, No. S233983, Case Summary.

The decision in Hernandez, et al., Pls. and Resp'ts; Francesca Muller, Pl. and Appellant v. Restoration Hardware, Inc., Def. and Resp't, 245 Cal.App.4th 651 [199 Cal.Rptr.3d 719], 2016 Cal.App. LEXIS 185 (4th App. Dist., Div. 1, Mar. 14, 2016) (hereinafter Restoration Hardware), held that this Court's 74-year-old decision in Eggert v. Pacific States Savings and Loan Company, et al., 20 Cal.2d 199 (Apr. 21, 1942), requires an unnamed class member in a class action to intervene¹ in the litigation in order to obtain appellate standing.

"[I]t is a settled rule of practice in this state that only a party to the record can appeal...."

Restoration Hardware, 245 Cal.App.4th at 659, citing Eggert, 20 Cal.2d at 201.

[Class Member Muller] did not move to intervene in the action....

The appeal is dismissed.

Id. at 245 Cal.App.4th at 654 and 663, respectively.

If the *Restoration Hardware* court's analysis is correct, should this Court's *Eggert* decision continue to be the law of this state?

¹ The terms "intervene" and "intervention" do not in fact appear in the text of the *Eggert* decision. The precise language of *Eggert* is "be made parties ... into the action." (*Eggert*, 20 Cal.2d at 201.)

Appellants were not named as parties to the action....
Although their attorney appeared at the hearing on the petition for the payment of the money to plaintiff's attorneys and objected to such payment, <u>he did not ask that appellants be made parties</u>, nor did the court order them brought into the action.

•••

The appeal is therefore dismissed ... [a]s appellants have no right to appeal....

Eggert, 20 Cal.2d at 201 (emphasis added).

INTRODUCTION

The modern class action resulted from major revisions to Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure during the 1960s. Since then, class actions have become a major part of the civil litigation landscape.

Each year millions, if not tens of millions, of Californians are involuntarily brought into class action litigation as unnamed class members. These class members are usually unaware of the existence of the class action proceedings in which they are plaintiffs and their rights are adjudicated. Appeal is the only mechanism that allows unnamed class members to obtain judicial review of trial court decisions affecting their rights.

Because trial judges who orchestrate settlements can be expected to approve them, the primary monitors of such settlements must [be] appellate judges.

Charles Silver, *Class Actions - Representative Proceedings*, Encyclopedia of Law & Economics 194, 216 (B. Bouckaert & G. De Geest, eds. 1999) (emphasis added).

The right of unnamed class members to appeal trial court rulings is a crucial procedural protection to ensure the integrity and proper functioning of the class action mechanism. As noted by Seventh Circuit Court of Appeal Judge Frank H. Easterbrook, basic issues of class action jurisprudence are often left unresolved:

Because a large proportion of class actions settl[e] or [are] resolved in a way that overtakes procedural matters, some fundamental issues about class actions are poorly developed.... But, the more fundamental the question and the greater the likelihood that it will escape effective disposition at the end of the case, the more appropriate is an appeal....

Blair v. Equifax Check Services, Inc., 181 F.3d 832, 835 (7th Cir. 1999) (emphasis added).

The class action mechanism's approval process disposes of millions of Californians' property rights through the *res judicata* effect of class action judgments.

Our Supreme Court recently cautioned that the class action device ... also carries with it substantial dangers of injustice to class members who may be deprived of their rights by the actions of the class plaintiff.

Trotsky v. Los Angeles Federal Savings and Loan Ass'n, et al., 48 Cal.App.3d 134, 149 [121 Cal.Rptr. 637] (2d App. Dist., Div. 5 May 6, 1975) (emphasis added).

The ruling of the Fourth Appellate District Court of Appeal in *Restoration Hardware*, requiring formal intervention, is contrary to the overwhelming holdings of appellate courts throughout California and contrary to unnamed class members' appellate standing requirements in the federal system. The ruling provides an unnecessary barrier to unnamed class members' efforts to protect the integrity of the class action mechanism.

A requirement of formal intervention through the filing of motions to intervene and to set aside the judgment (*Restoration Hardware*, 245 Cal.App.4th at 662) for unnamed class members who have already filed formal written objections to a proposed settlement or request for attorneys' fees and appeared at the fairness hearing to argue those objections requires the expenditure of needless time and effort. This applies not merely for unnamed class members/would-be appellants, but for class counsel, defendants, and California's trial and appellate court judges as well.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Michael Hernandez filed a class action complaint in the San Diego Superior Court against Defendant Restoration Hardware in 2008.

The complaint alleged that the Defendant violated Civil Code § 1747.08 of the Song-Beverly Credit Card Act of 1971 by requesting and recording ZIP codes from customers that used a credit card for purchasing items in Defendant's California retail stores. The plaintiff sought damages under the act and elimination of the practice.

The trial court, on September 29, 2014, entered a "Final Judgment" (AA 14), which finally disposed of all issues between the parties. (California Rules of Court (hereinafter CRC), Rules 8.100(a) and 8.204(a)(2)(B), and Code of Civil Procedure (hereinafter CCP) §§ 901 and 904.)

On November 24, 2014, Class Member/Appellant Muller (hereinafter Class Member Muller) filed a Notice of Appeal (AA 29) to the Final Judgment.

On March 14, 2016, the appellate court issued its published opinion, *Mike Hernandez, et al.; Francesca Muller v. Restoration Hardware, Inc.*, 245 Cal.App.4th 651 [199 Cal.Rptr.3d 719], 2016 Cal.App. LEXIS 185 (4th App. Dist., Div. 1, Mar. 14, 2016), and without reaching the merits of any of Class Member Muller's arguments, dismissed Class Member Muller's appeal on the ground of standing.

A Petition for Review was filed in this Court on April 21, 2016, and granted on June 22, 2016.

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

This class action involves consumer purchases by credit cards of products from Defendant Restoration Hardware (RHI).

The detailed facts of this case are available in the "Factual and Procedural Background" contained in the *Restoration Hardware* opinion. This Statement will highlight the facts specifically relevant to this appeal, as well as note the inaccuracies in the court of appeal's "Factual and Procedural Background."²

Plaintiff Mike Hernandez filed a class action complaint in the San Diego Superior Court against Restoration Hardware, Inc., No. 37-2008-00094395-CU-BT-CTL, on October 21, 2008.

The complaint alleged Defendant RHI's violation of the Song-Beverly Credit Card Act, California Civil Code § 1747.08, in requesting and recording ZIP codes from customers who paid for merchandise with a credit card at retail stores located in California.

As a result of a motion for class certification filed on June 1, 2012, the trial court certified the following class:

All persons from whom RHI requested and recorded ZIP Codes in conjunction with a credit card transaction in its California retail stores since October 21, 2007.

An undated "Notice of Pendency of Class Action" was e-mailed to Class Member Muller on June 4, 2013, which stated:

To: All persons from whom Restoration Hardware, Inc. requested and recorded ZIP Codes in conjunction with a credit card purchase transaction in its California retail stores from October 21, 2007, through the present.

² Note errors identified at pages 10-13, infra.

If you are a member of this class of persons, you should read this Notice carefully because it will affect your rights.

...

If you are a member of the Class, you can either stay in the lawsuit and receive any benefits that the Class may receive or you can ask to be excluded from the Class. The last day to postmark a request for exclusion from the Class is August 3, 2013. For access to the full notice regarding this class action and other information about the case, including how to exclude yourself from the Class, go to www.rhizipcodeaction.com.

(AA 1.)

As the appellate court in *Restoration Hardware* noted:

The June 2013 notice to potential class members advised them of the pending class action and explained they had the option of (1) remaining as part of the class and being bound by the judgment, or (2) excluding themselves from the class and not being bound by any judgment. It also advised that, if they elected to remain in the class, they had the option of entering an appearance through counsel.

Restoration Hardware, 245 Cal.App.4th at 654 (emphasis added).

In response to the "Notice of Pendency of Class Action," on June 19, 2013, Class Member filed a Notice of Appearance of Additional Counsel:

The undersigned counsel hereby appears as additional counsel on behalf of Plaintiff Class Member Francesca Muller in the above-captioned class action. He requests that all future papers and pleadings be served upon him at the address stated below.

(AA 3.)

The issues regarding the class's damage claims were decided at a bench trial in January 2014. The trial court issued a "Proposed Statement of Decision and Judgment" (Respondents' Appendix to Opposition Brief

(hereinafter "RA") at 70) on March 7, 2014. It concluded that Defendants had violated the Song-Beverly Act of 1971 (Civil Code § 1747.08) and imposed a penalty for said misconduct. By virtue of the court's decision on the merits, a common fund of \$36,412,350 was established.

The recovery to the class was described as follows:

Class Members can elect to receive a \$30.00 cash award for each confirmed violation, or a coupon that offers a potential savings of \$3,300.00 off a purchase from RHI.

(Class Counsel's Mem. P&As in Support of Mot. for Award of Attorney Fees, etc., filed 7/18/14; see RA at 93:13-15.)

Class Plaintiffs subsequently filed a "Motion for an Award of Attorneys' Fees and Litigation Costs to Class Counsel and Service Awards to Class Representatives" (RA 87) on July 18, 2014, and a hearing date for September 5, 2014, was set.

Class Counsel requested a common fund attorneys' fee award of 25% from the class's recovery of \$36,412,350.00, or \$9, 103,087.50, as a reasonable attorneys' fee, along with litigation costs of \$100,000 and incentive awards for the named Representative Plaintiffs in the amount of \$25,000 each. A copy of said motion was sent to Class Member Muller by virtue of her having filed an appearance in response to the Notice of Pendency.

In their declaration in support of their fee request, Class Counsel described how they had directly negotiated a settlement of their fee request with the Defendant.

After meeting and conferring at arms-length with Restoration Hardware to avoid further litigation on this issue, Class Counsel agreed to request only 25% of the common fund and Restoration Hardware agreed not to oppose this request.

(Decl. James R. Patterson in Support of Mot. for an Award of Attorneys' Fees, etc., filed 7/18/14; see RA at 122:12-14.)

No notice was ever sent to unnamed class members, advising them that Class Counsel had sought a fee of 25% to be paid out of the class's recovery. Thusly, there was no mechanism for unnamed class members to file objections or even become aware that Class Counsel had sought \$9.1 million from the class's recovery.

On September 2, 2014, Class Member filed, in response to Class Counsel's Motion for an Award of Attorneys' Fees, etc., a "Request for Clarification and to Appear Telephonically at the September 5, 2014, Hearing" (AA 5), stating:

The parties' pleadings do not indicate that class members were notified of the settlement of the attorneys' fee issue and of the hearing on September 5, 2014, to approve Class Counsel's fee request.

(AA 6, ls. 2-4.)

On September 5, 2014, the trial court held a hearing at which Class Counsel and Defendant's counsel participated, as well as counsel for Class Member Muller, who objected to the court's approval of Class Counsel's fee request:

At the hearing on the attorney fee application, Muller objected that considering the attorney fees application without first giving class members notice of the fee application and the right to appear and comment on the application was a violation of class action procedures because this fee award was "a settlement as regards to the attorneys' fees...."

Restoration Hardware, 245 Cal.App.4th at 656.

The Court of Appeal also correctly noted:

[Class Member Muller] did not move to intervene in the action, or to join as an additional class representative, or to be substituted for Michael Hernandez and Amanda Georgino as class representative.

Restoration Hardware, 245 Cal.App.4th at 654.

After the hearing on September 5, 2014, the trial court issued a "Second Amended Minute Order," denying Class Member Muller's request for clarification and approving the fee and cost requests. (AA 11.)

On September 29, 2014, the trial court filed a Final Judgment (AA 14), granting Class Counsel \$9,103,087.50 in attorneys' fees.

After obtaining a Final Judgment, the parties distributed a "Notice of Judgment in Class Action" (AA 25), advising class members of the prior January 2014 bench trial and its outcome and instructions for the claims process. However, the Notice never advised class members of the award of attorneys' fees, costs, and service awards for the Representative Plaintiffs from the class's settlement fund.

On November 24, 2014, Plaintiff Class Member Muller filed a Notice of Appeal (AA 29) in the Fourth Appellate District Court of Appeal of the trial court's Final Judgment.

On March 14, 2016, the Court of Appeal issued its published opinion, dismissing Class Member Muller's appeal on the ground of lack of standing without reaching the merits of her claim.

A Petition for Review was filed in this Court on April 21, 2016, and granted on June 22, 2016.

Errors in the Court of Appeal's "Factual and Procedural Background"

Four significant factual holdings in the *Restoration Hardware* opinion's "Factual and Procedural Background" (at 654) regarding events in the trial court are not supported by the record.

(a) The first incorrect factual finding by the appellate court was as follows:

[A]nd the amount of the attorney fee award was not made by the parties during negotiations to which unnamed class members were not privy, but was instead made by the court as part of adversarial proceedings, which brings this action squarely within the holding of Eggert and also obviates one of the concerns articulated by Powers. (See Powers, at p. 1256.)

Restoration Hardware, 245 Cal.App.4th at 662 n.6 (emphasis added).

Just the opposite is true. The amount of the attorneys' fee was negotiated solely between Plaintiffs' counsel and Defendant's counsel (see reference to Decl. of James R. Patterson, pages 8-9, supra) – a negotiation to which unnamed class members were not privy and knew nothing about.

- (b) The second incorrect factual finding was that the amount of the fee was <u>not</u> determined by the trial court as part of an adversarial proceeding as the parties had previously entered into a private settlement of the issue.
- (c) The third incorrect factual finding was the appellate court's conclusion that *Restoration Hardware* was on "all fours" with *Eggert*:

Eggert appears to be on "all fours" with the present action: both involved a class action; both involved a matter litigated to judgment; both involved a challenge to the postjudgment attorney fee award to the counsel for the named plaintiff; both involved appellants who were members of the class, but not named parties, and who had appeared through counsel to object to the attorney fee award; and both involved members who took no steps to be added as

named plaintiffs. Accordingly, under Auto Equity Sales, Inc. v. Superior Court (1962) 57 Cal.2d 450 [20 Cal. Rptr. 321, 369 P.2d 937], we must adhere to Eggert and dismiss the appeal.

Restoration Hardware, 245 Cal.App. 4th at 659 (footnote omitted).

In making this finding, the appellate court ignores the issue of notice, a major argument raised in Class Member Muller's appeal. In the *Eggert* case, notice was provided to unnamed class members:

The court also made an order, directed to plaintiff and all other persons interested, to show cause why it should not make an order fixing reasonable attorneys' fees. Notice of the order was published daily until the return date.

Eggert, supra, 20 Cal.2d at 200 (emphasis added).

Because the appeal concerned lack of notice prior to the award of attorneys' fees, it is perplexing that the *Restoration Hardware* court could find this case "on all fours" in its *Eggert* inquiry, ignoring this major factual dissimilarity. Unlike *Eggert*, it was only after the court approved the fee for Class Counsel (AA 14) and after the trial court entered the Final Judgment that the parties sent a "Notice of Judgment in Class Action" (AA 25) to class members, and then only advising class members of the terms of the court's decision on damages due to the class.

Surprisingly, even this belated notice never mentioned the amount of the attorneys' fee that the trial court had awarded to Class Counsel from the class's recovery.

(d) The fourth incorrect factual finding was:

Muller ... <u>did not argue the *amount* the</u> <u>court's tentative ruling proposed to award</u> was excessive.

Restoration Hardware, 245 Cal.App.4th at 656 (emphasis added).

Class Member Muller challenged the lodestar crosscheck calculation by the trial court, and in so doing argued that the purported cross-check of the percentage used by the court allowed for the awarding of an excessive fee.

Mr. Schonbrun: I also disagree with ... the statement in your opinion that the lodestar is the amount of time the lawyers worked on the case at their hourly rate, which I think is a misstatement of the law.

The law is – and ... I don't believe that your opinion made clear that the lodestar approach is the <u>reasonable</u> number of hours that have been worked on the case, and that if multiplied by the prevailing market rate for the service rendered....

The Court: Well, on that latter point,
Mr. Schonbrun, the reference to lodestar in the tentative certainly was intended, and I think reasonably is understood, to be counsel's submitted lodestar. In other words, counsel takes the position that they have worked X number of hours at certain hourly rates to yield an aggregate lodestar or, in this case, approximately 2.5 million.

I certainly understand that if one were to award a fee based on the lodestar multiplier approach, that the counsel's lodestar would be subject to an evaluation as to whether those hours were reasonable. No dispute about that. And in this case, you're correct that we never got to that analysis because the fee is being awarded based on a percentage manner.

(Rep. Appeal Tr., 9/5/14, Vol. 1, at 23:3-28 – 24:1-4; emphasis added.)

LEGAL ARGUMENT

T.

THE EGGERT DECISION SHOULD BE RECONSIDERED

A. This Court's 74-Year-Old Decision in *Eggert* is a Remnant of a Bygone Era.

Eggert v. Pacific States Savings and Loan Company, supra, 20 Cal.2d 199, was a 1942 case that was decided before the major changes in Rule 23 were enacted in the 1960s, which created the modern class action.

In the first period, from the 1966 amendments to *rule* 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure (28 U.S.C.), which "heralded the advent of the modern class action" (Walker & Horwich, *supra*, 18 Geo. J. Legal Ethics at p. 1453)....

(Laffitte v. Robert Half Int'l, Inc., 1 Cal.5th 480, 2016 Cal. LEXIS 6387 (Aug. 11, 2016).)

Class actions are handled quite differently in the federal courts and in California courts as well since *Eggert* was decided. As a consequence, *Eggert* should be reconsidered.

We have repeatedly directed that in the absense of controlling state authority, California courts should utilize the procedures of *rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure* (28 U.S.C.) to ensure fairness in the resolution of class action suits.

Jolly v. Eli Lilly & Co., 44 Cal.3d 1103, 1118 [245 Cal. Rptr. 658] (Apr. 7, 1988).

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