No. S233983

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

MIKE HERNANDEZ, et al, *Plaintiffs and Respondents*,

FRANCESCA MULLER, Plaintiff and Appellant.

v.

FILED

JAN - 9 2017

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

RESTORATION HARDWARE, INC.

Defendant and Respondent.

Deputy
FILED WITH PERMISSION

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal of the State of California Fourth Appellate District, Division One Case No. D067091

On Appeal from the Superior Court of the County of San Diego The Honorable William S. Dato Case No. 27-2008-00094395-CU-BT-CTL

ANSWER TO APPELLANT FRANCESCA MULLER'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

Requiring an objector to be a party means she would have to take on some of the risks that class representatives must bear. She would be subject to discovery, could be liable for costs awarded, and potentially liable for attorney fees. Here, Class Counsel have spent more than two years and more than \$100,000.00 in costs and fees fighting Petitioner's appeal, even

though she has no standing under Code of Civil Procedure section 902. There is no pathway to recover any compensation for this substantial work. Forcing these costs on courts and Class Counsel (who are the only attorneys willing to take on fiduciary duties to the Class in this case) is not only unfair; it discourages attorneys from bringing class actions altogether.

Petitioner expressly disclaims any fiduciary obligation to the Class here, arguing she can hold up classwide relief solely for her own interests. (Petitioner's Brief, at p. 41 ["Class action procedures allow for any unnamed class member to file an objection on his or her own behalf; representing the class is irrelevant to the objection process."].) But an unnamed class member should not, merely by virtue of being in the class, have a right to appeal that is not tethered to any fiduciary duty to the class. Allowing a class member to appeal without intervention gives that class member the power to override the persons who have a fiduciary duty to the class (the trial court, the class representative, and class counsel), and delay, or worse derail, relief to the class, with no requirement or even consideration as to whether that class member is acting for the class or out of self-interest. It also imposes no costs or consequences for frivolous appeals.

2. The Substantial Benefits of Intervention Outweigh any Minimal Burden

Code of Civil Procedure section 387 governs intervention in a civil action. It provides for permissive intervention by a person with an interest in the litigation. It provides for mandatory intervention where there is 1) a statutory right to intervene; or 2) where "the person seeking intervention claims an interest relating to the property or transaction which is the subject

of the action and that person is so situated that the disposition of the action may as a practical matter impair or impede that person's ability to protect that interest, unless that person's interest is adequately represented by existing parties." (Code Civ. Proc., § 387.)

A person can seek to intervene by ex parte application (Adoption of Lenn E. (1986) 182 Cal.App.3d 210, 217 [227 Cal.Rptr. 63]), noticed motion (City of San Francisco v. State of Cal. (2005) 128 Cal.App.4th 1030, 1033 [27 Cal.Rptr.3d 722]), or by oral motion. (Simac Design v. Alciati (1979) 92 Cal.App.3d 146, 157 [154 Cal.Rptr.676].) An unnamed class member could easily meet the first prong of the mandatory intervention standard because she "claims an interest relating to the property or transaction which is the subject of the action." (Code Civ. Proc. § 387.) The unnamed class member would also have to demonstrate that her interest is not "adequately represented by existing parties." (Ibid.) Requiring an unnamed class member to articulate the grounds for intervention in the trial court results in a more complete record below, a key benefit to intervention.

Once a trial court grants permission to intervene, the intervenor must file a complaint to become a party to the action. (*Klinghoffer v. Barasch* (1970) 4 Cal.App.3d 258, 261 [84 Cal.Rptr.350].) After filing the complaint in intervention, the intervenor has the same rights as an original party. (*Montgomery v. Bio-Med Specialties, Inc.* (1986) 183 Cal.App.3d 1292, 1296 [228 Cal.Rptr. 709] [an intervenor "becomes a party to the action, with all of the same procedural rights and remedies of the original parties"].) Again, requiring an unnamed class member to articulate her claims in a complaint in intervention, for example outlining the specific objections to a settlement, results in a more complete record below.

Eggert's intervention requirement imposes, at most, a minimal burden on objecting class members. In Petitioner's case, she could have requested orally to intervene at any time, or through noticed motion or ex parte application. The trial court would have had a record of the grounds for Petitioner's request under Code of Civil Procedure section 387, including the basis for any claim that the class representatives were not adequately representing Petitioner's interests. The negligible inconvenience of moving to intervene is minor compared to the far greater burden to the appellate court and class counsel of an appeal, particularly where the record below has not been fully developed. In that case, the burden falls not only on the court and class counsel, but also sharply on class members, whose share of a settlement or class verdict is put at risk given the delays of appeal.

The intervention requirement does not limit in any way a class member's important right to appear and object in the trial court. Often, these objections take the form of informal notes or letters, or oral comments at the hearing. The trial court, in its fiduciary role, must consider these objections in reviewing a class settlement or attorney fee award. (*Kullar*, *supra*, 168 Cal.App.4th at p. 129.) An order denying intervention is appealable. (*Klinghoffer*, *supra*, 4 Cal.App.3d at p. 258.)

This case exemplifies the benefits of *Eggert's* bright-line rule requiring intervention. Here, Petitioner claims the right to appeal the trial court's order without accepting any of the attendant fiduciary duties or responsibilities of a class representative. Petitioner made no attempt to make a clear record below of her objections. Petitioner did not even file a written objection before the hearing. Her appeal is based on a "Request for Clarification" and a vague oral objection at the hearing. Even though Class

Counsel served Petitioner with a detailed lodestar analysis, Petitioner did not even bother to look at the analysis prior to the hearing on the motion for attorney fees. If Petitioner were truly interested in the best interests of the class, she would have sought to intervene and been willing to take on the responsibilities of a class representative. She did not. She has no standing to appeal.

3. Allowing Unnamed Class Members to Appeal Without Intervening Threatens the Manageability of Class Actions

Allowing an unnamed class member to appeal without intervening transforms a class action from a case commenced and litigated by a representative party in the trial court, to a case litigated by as many of the unnamed class members who choose to appeal in the appellate court. That is antithetical to the goals of fairness and efficiency that the class action device seeks to fulfill.

In Fireside Bank v. Superior Court (2007) 40 Cal.4th 1069 [56 Cal.Rptr.3d 861, 155 P.3d 268], this Court held that a trial court should not consider the merits of a case brought as a class action until after it has ruled on the issue of class certification. (Id. at p. 1074.) The issue at hand was "one-way intervention," a problem created when "not-yet-bound absent plaintiffs may elect to stay in a class after favorable merits rulings but opt out after unfavorable ones." (Ibid.) One-way intervention allows class members to stand on the sidelines and "wait and see" what happens on the merits before deciding whether to join the class. This Court found that would be unfair to a defendant, who would be "open to being pecked to death by ducks. One plaintiff could sue and lose and another could sue and lose; and another and another until one finally prevailed; then everyone else would ride on that single success." (Id. at p. 1078.) This Court's solution to the problem of one-way intervention was to require unnamed class

members to make a choice at the certification stage, before any determination on the merits: stay in the class, or opt out. (*Id.* at p. 1079.) "Thereafter they are either nonparties to the suit and ineligible to participate in a recovery or to be bound by a judgment, or else they are full members who must abide by the final judgment, whether favorable or adverse." (*Ibid.*)

Allowing an unnamed class member to appeal without intervening flies in the face of this principle. Here, the Petitioner received notice of the pending class action and had the opportunity to opt out. Petitioner chose not to, with the knowledge that by failing to opt out, she would be bound by any judgment rendered in this case. Petitioner remained on the sidelines throughout the litigation, even though her counsel was informed of the proceedings at every stage. The case proceeded to trial. The trial court adjudicated the merits of the class' claims, and entered judgment for the class, awarding \$30.00 per violation. After scrutinizing Class Counsel's motion for an award of attorney fees, the trial court awarded the requested amount.

Petitioner is now asking for "one-way" appellate rights. She wants to be "unbound" by that judgment, and free to appeal even though she has not moved to intervene and is not willing to accept the responsibilities of appearing as a party in the action. Under *Fireside*, Petitioner should not be allowed to sit on the sidelines and wait to see if she really wants to be bound until after a determination on the merits. Petitioner cannot have it both ways. She should either move to intervene if she believes the class is not adequately represented, or accept the judgment as a silent beneficiary of the work of class counsel and the class representatives. In either case, Petitioner was free to voice any concerns about the claims process to the

trial court, and the trial court was obligated to (and did) consider those concerns before entering judgment. But Petitioner should not be allowed to tie up this case, or burden the appellate court, by appealing without intervening.

The same is true where a class action is resolved by settlement. (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 3.769(f).) California Rules of Court, rule 3.769 (f) requires notice of a pending settlement to unnamed class members. Before notice is distributed, the trial court must preliminarily approve the settlement as fair, adequate, and reasonable to the class. (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 3.769(c).) California law requires fair and adequate representation, not representation or results that are to the precise liking of every member of the class. If an unnamed class member does not believe the settlement is in her best interest, she can opt out. If an unnamed class member does not believe the settlement is in the class' best interest, or that the class is not adequately represented, she can move to intervene and act on behalf of the class.

Another way to consider the problems inherent in allowing appeals by unnamed class members without intervention is to view it from a different procedural lens. If the trial court here had found that Restoration Hardware was not liable, then under Petitioner's standards, any unnamed class member would be able to appeal that decision, even though every one of those class members had received notice and an opportunity to opt out but chose to stay in the class and be bound by any judgment. That would defeat the entire purpose of *Fireside* to avoid one-way intervention by making class members determine at the certification stage, before the merits had been decided, whether or not they would stay in the class.

4. The Res Judicata Exception to Party Status Under Code of Civil Procedure section 902 Should Not Apply in Class Actions.

Petitioner invokes a res judicata "exception" to the party requirement in Code of Civil Procedure section 902 discussed in *Marsh v. Mountain Zephyr, Inc.* (1996) 43 Cal.App.4th 289 [50 Cal.Rptr.2d 493], to argue that any unnamed class member should be able to appeal a class judgment merely because the class member would be bound by the judgment. But following Petitioner's argument, the exception would swallow the rule in class actions, defeating the representative nature of class actions that is the hallmark of fairness and efficiency.

In *Marsh*, the appellant was an expert witness challenging a trial court order setting his hourly rate for deposition testimony. (*Marsh*, *supra*, 43 Cal.App.4th at p. 293.) In analyzing whether the expert witness had standing, the appellate court noted that there is an exception to the "party of record" requirement in Code of Civil Procedure section 902 "where a judgment or order has a res judicata effect on a nonparty." (*Id.* at p. 296.) The court found standing, however, because Code of Civil Procedure section 2034, subdivision (i), contemplated that an expert witness would have standing to appeal an order setting an expert witness fee. (*Ibid.*) "The procedure for fee determination and the possible sanctions against the expert witness appear to make the expert witness a 'party' to the motion although not a party to the underlying action. We conclude that the expert witness, as a party to the motion, has standing to appeal the order resulting from the motion." (*Id.* at pp. 296-97.)

The circumstances of an unnamed class member like Petitioner are materially different. Petitioner received a notice of pendency of class action pursuant to California Rules of Court, rule 3.766. That notice advised Petitioner that she could do nothing, remain in the Class, and be bound by any judgment; or she could opt out and pursue her own claims. Petitioner chose the first option and remained in the Class. Unlike the expert witness in *Marsh*, Petitioner was represented throughout the litigation by class representatives and class counsel with fiduciary duties to represent the best interests of the class, and the litigation was overseen by a trial court with a similar fiduciary duty to the class.

It would defeat the entire purpose of class actions to allow Petitioner to appeal a judgment as an unnamed class member, when she agreed to be bound. Petitioner traded her individual claim for the efficiency of the class action procedure, which allowed her to sit on the sidelines while the class representatives and Class Counsel did all the work and took all the risk. Petitioner should not be entitled to a "do over" at the end of the litigation because she prefers a different result.

Petitioner would be in a different position if she had never received notice of the class action. (*Cf. Simons v. Horowitz* (1984) 151 Cal.App.3d 834, 843 [199 Cal.Rptr. 134].) In *Simons*, the appellate court found that a member of a defendant class had standing to appeal a settlement of claims against the defendant class, where there were serious questions as to whether the defendant class ever received notice of the pending action. (*Id.* at p. 842.) The *Simons* court did not create a general exception to standing, but instead based its decision on the "circumstances of the 'representative'

defendants' settlement of respondents' claims against them." (*Ibid.*) The court allowed the appeal on equitable grounds. (*Ibid.*) There is no inequity here in holding Petitioner to her decision to stay in the Class after receiving notice.

Petitioner argues that her right to opt out had no value because she did not know how the case would be resolved at the time she had to make that decision. (Petitioner's Opening Brief, at p. 42.) But that is precisely the point of *Fireside* and the class action procedure. Petitioner was not forced to be a member of the Class. Petitioner chose to be a member of the Class and forgo her individual rights of suit when she did not opt out after receiving notice and an opportunity to do so. The benefits of class actions are thwarted by one-way appeals.

C. Federal Authority Is Not Binding on This Court

Petitioner criticizes the appellate court for referencing federal circuit cases that pre-date the U.S. Supreme Court's decision in *Devlin v*.

Scardeletti (2002) 526 U.S. 1 [119 S.Ct. 966, 143 L.Ed.2d 1], arguing that *Devlin* stands for the proposition that an unnamed class member does not have to move for intervention in order to be considered a "party" for purposes of appeal. But *Devlin* is not binding on this Court. The appellate court did not commit any error by considering the policies articulated in federal court decisions pre-dating *Devlin*.

In *Devlin*, an unnamed class member moved to intervene to challenge a class action settlement, filed an objection, and appeared at the fairness hearing. (*Devlin*, *supra*, 526 U.S. at p. 5.) The trial court denied the

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